TORTURE, SECRET HEARINGS AND CLASSIFIED EVIDENCE: THE CASE OF MUHAMMAD SALAH

[This article is based on the research and suppression hearing preparation work of the Salah trial team and National Lawyers Guild  members Michael Deutsch, Erica Thompson, Robert Bloom and Ben Elson, and was written by PMCRLR Editorial Board member Flint Taylor.]


On March 3, 2006, opening arguments on a motion to suppress statements were heard in U.S. District Court in Chicago in the case of United States v. Muhammad Salah, et. al., 03 CR 0978.  This hearing is the latest chapter in a case of international importance which, over its thirteen year history, has implicated torture of Palestinian detainees by Israeli intelligence agents, secret trials of U.S. citizens in Israeli military courts, the branding of  U.S. citizens as “terrorists” by the U.S. Government, the use of allegedly tortured confessions in U.S. Courts, and in camera hearings and ex parte submissions of evidence pursuant to the Classified Information Procedures Act (CIPA) concerning the interrogations which yielded these confessions.
The Arrest and Interrogation of Muhammad Salah
On January 25, 1993, Muhammad Salah, a U.S. businessman of Palestinian descent, was arrested by Israeli soldiers at a Gaza checkpoint while awaiting entry into Israel. Salah was accused of distributing money in the West Bank and Gaza, money which he said was for a humanitarian cause - - - to aid the families of more than 400 alleged Hamas activists who had been summarily deported to Lebanon or detained by the Israeli government, an act which had been internationally condemned.  According to an affidavit filed in U. S. District Court by Salah in support of his motion to suppress, he was handcuffed, blindfolded, and thrown into the back of a jeep where he was forced to lie face down on the floor by the soldiers who then

“drove me around for many hours, repeatedly stomping on me with their boots and struck me with their rifle butts in my head, my groin, and all over my body while I lay on the floor of their vehicle. They insulted me in English and Arabic, and they were laughing as they stomped on my body, my head, and my groin area. They insulted my mother.  They called me a terrorist and constantly threatened me.  They used racial slurs toward me and my family.  I feared for my life from the moment I was taken into custody.”
Affidavit of Muhammad Salah, dated October 17, 2005, pp 2-3.

Salah was then delivered to the Ramallah detention and interrogation center in the

Occupied Territories of the West Bank where he was interrogated by Israeli Government Security Service (GSS)
 agents and Palestinian collaborators working under the direction of the GSS for the next 80 days. Upon arrival, he was hooded and kept in handcuffs and leg shackles.  While he had never been in any jail or prison before, he was aware of the treatment of many other Palestinians who had been in Israeli custody, including his own mother and step-mother. Affidavit of Muhammad Salah, p. 2.  Salah went on to describe the first day of his interrogation:

I was put in a room, stripped naked, and threatened by an interrogator calling himself “Haim.”  He told me I would be photographed naked with a camera that was placed on top of a file cabinet. Such treatment is particularly degrading in my culture.   I was also fearful that my being stripped naked was a prelude to a sexual assault.  Once when I began to cry, one of the Israeli agents told me to “stop pretending - we know you like it this way.”  I was told that my family and I would be killed or harmed or arrested unless I cooperated.  As the agents made these threats, I imagined my wife being arrested and brought to prison in Israel.  I thought of her being brought there to face the kind of torture and abuse I was facing.  I was beside myself with fear.

Affidavit, pp. 2-3.

When Salah asked for a lawyer, “Haim” and other interrogators laughed at him, and they told him that he had no right to a lawyer in Israel.  They also told him that he could be held indefinitely without ever seeing a judge, a lawyer or anyone else.
  Haim told him that he was in a military occupation zone “where no law applies - the only law is what we say,” and that he could be kept hidden for six months with nobody knowing where he was.  Affidavit, p.3.

Salah then described the systemic interrogation techniques, including the shabeh position, that numerous other Palestinian detainees have also reported:

Over the next 48 hours, I was forced to stay awake and was interrogated by numerous Israeli agents, including ones who gave me their names as Haim, Nadav, and Benny.  When I was not being actively interrogated, I was still forced to remain awake. I was either handcuffed behind my back to a forward slanted child-size chair in a position that caused excruciating pain between my shoulder blades and in my back since I had to balance myself and the chair so I wouldn’t slide off.  If I was not shackled to the small chair, I was put in a dark, freezing, closet-sized cell in which I could not stand upright, sit or lie down.  This refrigerator cell was about 3 x 2 feet, and I was held there handcuffed to a metal bar behind my back. Most of the time, my head was covered with a filthy, foul-smelling hood reeking of urine, vomit, and other unpleasant substances.


Affidavit, p. 3.

During the time between interrogation periods, which the GSS agents referred to by the euphemism of “waiting,” Salah experienced cramping, severe psychological stress, and complete helplessness.  The hood severely limited his ability to breathe normally, deafening music was played constantly, and he often heard other detainees screaming in pain.  He had to beg to use the toilet, and on one occasion he urinated on himself when permission was denied.  While hooded, he was often slapped or hit on the head, apparently to keep him awake, and he came to “recognize Haim by his footsteps . . . to know the feel of his hand when he hit me. My fear grew each time I heard his footsteps.” Affidavit, pp. 3-4.

After nearly three days of interrogation, Salah signed a statement, written in Hebrew, a language that he did not read or understand.  He was then taken back to the closet-sized freezing cell where he had no blanket or mattress.  He was unable to sleep despite total exhaustion, was taken out of the refrigerator cell and subjected to aggressive and threatening interrogation, including threats of blinding and maiming, mixed with long periods of waiting while hooded and shackled to the small chair.  During this time he was hit, punched and slapped  by interrogator “Haim” and others.  He was again threatened and was told by “Haim” that they had people working within the FBI and could get the FBI to arrest and to harm his family, including his children, in the United States. He then signed another document written in Hebrew.  He “had no idea what the document said, and only signed it to try to end the nightmare [he] was experiencing.” Salah Affidavit, pp. 4-6. 

 Directly after these statements were taken, and after the U.S. Ambassador lodged an official protest with Prime Minister Yitzhak Rabin, the U.S. Consulate, who had at first been unable to obtain Salah’s location from Israeli officials and later had been rebuffed from scheduling a prompt visit, was finally permitted to visit him on January 31st.  Consulate memos of 2/1/93 and 2/4/93. GSS or other Israeli Government officials immediately leaked the contents of Salah’s statements to an Israeli newspaper, and these statements, together with the insinuation that he was a collaborator, appeared in a front page article on February 1st.  Yedoith Ahronoth, February 1, 1993, p. 1.

On February 2nd, Salah was brought to military court, where he was represented by a lawyer who was not permitted to talk to him, and who complained that the press knew more about the case than she did.  In an in camera proceeding, the military court reviewed secret GSS reports concerning Salah’s interrogation, and ordered that his detention and interrogation could continue, again without a lawyer, for 15 additional days. Memo of 2-4-93 from AMCON-J to SECSTAT  According to the U.S. consulate, who attended the proceedings, the Court directed Salah not to speak to the Court about his arrest and detention. (Consulate Memo of 2-4-93).  The Court granted the GSS interrogators fifteen additional days to interrogate, and Salah, who had still not been charged with an offense, was returned to Ramallah for further interrogation.  
Directly after this appearance, U.S. Secretary of State, Warren Christopher, voiced his and the Consulate’s continuing concern for Salah and two other Palestinian U.S. Citizens who had been detained at approximately the same time and were also under interrogation to the American Embassy in Tel Aviv:

 [You must] press vigorously our concerns about the treatment of the arrested Americans [with] senior, political level GOI [Government of Israel] authorities, drawing on the points about mistreatment, access, health, lack of charges, no access to counsel or family, due process violations, foreign policy with US, prejudicial press, solitary confinement, and [that] public and high level US government officials find this unacceptable.  

2/4/93 memo, from Secretary of State to American Embassy in Tel Aviv. 

The case was also of extreme importance to the Israeli government and its Prime Minister, Yitzhak Rabin, because they wanted to convince a skeptical U.S. Government that Hamas was actively operating in the United States. In addition to the leak of Salah’s statement to the Israeli press, Rabin and the Israeli government subsequently arranged for the well-connected New York Times Middle East reporter, Judith Miller, to surreptitiously watch a carefully orchestrated GSS interrogation session with Salah through a television monitor.  Crossing the line between reporter and agent, Miller, at GSS’s suggestion, supplied questions to the interrogator to pose to Salah.  In a February 17, 1993 front page Times article, Miller, in deference to Israeli security concerns, did not reveal that she was present during the session, but rather cited Israeli “sources” for her story which asserted that in this “interrogation,” which was staged some eighteen days after Salah’s interrogation began, Salah had admitted to various Hamas related activities. Miller, Judith, “Israel Says That a Prisoner's Tale Links Arabs in U.S. to Terrorism,” New York Times, Feb. 17, 1993, page 1.  Several years later, in her book God has Ninety-Nine Names, at pp. 380-81, Miller revealed that she was in fact present for the interrogation session. 

As the interrogation entered its second month, the GSS agents decided to employ a different form of interrogation that utilizes Palestinian collaborators, known as “birds.”

Salah was placed in a cell in the Ramallah prison with a large number of these prisoners, who were more sophisticated versions of the notorious “jailhouse snitches” utilized by authorities in U.S. prisons.  These collaborators, pretending to be high ranking members of Hamas and other Palestinian resistance organizations, directed him to write a statement of what had happened to him and why he had come to Israel to prove to them that he was not a “collaborator.”  Affidavit p. 6.  He wrote a  statement explaining he had come to the Occupied Territories to deliver money that had been raised for humanitarian purposes to support the families of the Palestinian men who had been deported by the Israelis.  Affidavit pp. 6-7. 

Unsuccessful in obtaining a confession in Salah’s own hand, the GSS transferred him to the prison in Hebron and placed him in a cell with another set of fifteen to twenty “birds” who subjected Salah to additional threats, violence, and torture for the next several days. The “birds”

asked me to write a statement of why I had come to Israel. When I explained that I had already written such a statement and refused to write another one, they began to call me a traitor.  They held a razor to my face and threatened to kill me. They then tied my hands and my feet to the corner of the two bed posts, covered my head, and proceeded to hit me repeatedly and kicked me in the groin.  They threatened to rape me.  They showed me a blue bowl with a rounded and pointed bottom, which they then forced me to sit on several times for as long as ten minutes, causing me excruciating pain.  They covered my mouth to muffle my screams of anguish. To this day I experience intense pain when I have to move my bowels. Over the course of the next several days, I was forced to remain tied to the corner of the bed. This position is known as a “zawiya,” which describes a treatment that is designed for traitors or collaborators. I was repeatedly threatened in many ways unless I wrote a statement in which I was to state that I was involved with Hamas.

Affidavit, p. 7.  He finally succumbed to their demands:

 
I was repeatedly threatened and frightened for my life, and I was forced to comply with their demands. These men would take what I wrote and bring back to me written questions and information that they wanted me to include in additional written statements.  I eventually included in a written statement all the information that they provided to me in writing.  The written questions and information that they presented to me made it clear what it was they wanted me to say.  I knew that the only way to save my life and protect myself from further harm was to do what they wanted me to do.

Affidavit, pp. 7-8. 

Salah was returned to military court on March 14, 1993 and charged by the prosecutor with terrorist activities against the state of Israel.  His interrogation did not end at this point, however, and Salah was returned to GSS agents for further interrogation.  Utilizing the detailed statement obtained by the “birds,” the agents, after more than fifty days of interrogation, then obtained an even more detailed taped statement which would become the cornerstone of the Israeli prosecutor’s case.
The Israeli Prosecution of Muhammad Salah
After his interrogation ended in early May, Salah was removed from isolation and placed in the general prison population. He retained noted Israeli human rights lawyer, Avigdor Feldman, to represent him before the Military Court.  According to Salah, the GSS interrogators returned and threatened him with a life sentence if he continued to use Feldman as his lawyer and sought a trial rather than a plea bargain.  Memo dated 9-10-93 from AMCON-J to SECSTATE. When Salah refused to discharge Feldman, the military prosecutor successfully petitioned for the case to be transferred to a three judge military panel that, unlike the single judge who was previously hearing the case, could impose a life sentence.  The prosecutor also successfully moved to add additional charges based on the March 18th taped statements. Memo dated 10-13-93 from AMCON-J to SECSTATE; Minutes of Military Court proceedings, October 10, 1993.

In January of 1994, the military court, which was comprised of two Lieutenant Colonels and a Captain, took up the question of whether the sub-trial, which would determine whether the written and taped statements were voluntarily given and therefore admissible at trial, would be conducted publicly or in secret. The hearing was triggered by Salah’s filing of  the equivalent of a motion to suppress, which set forth many of the same allegations of torture and abuse during his 80 days of interrogation that he later reasserted in his Affidavit. The prosecutor argued that protection of the classified interrogative techniques and procedures of the GSS and the identity of the interrogators required secret proceedings. Feldman argued that a public trial, particularly where the defendant was a U.S. citizen, was imperative to the appearance of justice in the Occupied Territories, and that, at most, the public identity of the interrogators should be protected by a screen while testifying.  The Court decided that the public would be barred, with the exception of a representative of the U.S. Consulate’s office, but that the minutes of the proceedings would later be made public. Minutes of Military Court Proceedings, January 30, 1994. 

A GSS agent, code named  “Nadav,” was first called to the stand.  He stated that a Major, code named  “Chaim”was the leader of Salah’s interrogation team, that he, “Nadav,” was the agent in charge of Salah’s investigation, and that each and every allegation in the motion was false.  He painted a far different picture of the interrogation than did Salah. While he admitted that handcuffing, the hood, the small chair, music, and the tiny cell were all used by interrogators as part of “waiting,” and that the interrogators’ memos reflected that Salah was repeatedly interrogated in the late night and early morning hours before and after being sent to “waiting,” he denied that any of these methods were used to break Salah.  Instead  he described a rested, well fed, relaxed, and intellectually engaged Salah, whom he interrogated primarily in the daytime, and who came to trust him as a friend and confidante.  He admitted that he was present for only half of the total interrogation, and painted a picture consistent with being the “good cop” in the “good cop, bad cop,” scenario which was suggested by Salah’s description of the interrogation.  Minutes of Military Court Proceedings, January 30, March 1, and March 23, 1994. 

When “Nadav”was asked on cross examination about GSS methods, the identities and methodologies of the ‘birds” and other similar information, another layer of secrecy emerged - - - the invocation of the “certificate of confidentiality” by the prosecutor.  This invocation was pursuant to the Order Regulating Security, paragraph 9 (a) which provided that:


No man is required to submit and the Court is not required to accept evidence, if 

the commander of the IDF forces in the region expressed his opinion, in a document

signed by his own hand, that its submission could damage the security of the area or an

important public matter.

 The crippling effect that the prosecutor’s use of the confidentiality weapon had on the

 defense’s ability to effectively cross examine Salah’s interrogators is demonstrated by the

 following invocation during “Nadav’s” cross:

Q:  I am telling you that the subject of the interrogation . . . is brought into the               facility at 1:40, waits until 22:30, interrogated until 7:00 in the morning and          waits until 11:30, is interrogated between 11:30 and 13:00, waits between              13:00 and 14:00, interrogated 14:00 to 21:30. [Does not] such an                             interrogation go against GSS procedures?

The Prosecutor: We object to having this question answered. The witness has             responded that at all stages of the interrogation, he acted according to the               procedural requirements… [T]his involves the exposure of the permitted               means within the framework of these procedures, which would lead to                   conclusions with regard to their content, as the permissions can teach about           the prohibitions…[This] relates to most confidential working methods, whose        exposure would lead to irrevocable and entirely inestimable damage with               regard to the work of the GSS.

Minutes of Military Court Proceedings, April 10, 1994.

Defense lawyer Feldman then articulated how this invocation hamstrung Mr.

 Salah’s right to effectively confront the witness:

The witness stated that he is aware of the GSS procedures and that he acts according to them.  The witness also stated that when he performs an interrogation, he examines previous interrogative actions, to make sure that his interrogation does not make the interrogation faulty, because the means which we are discussing – in other words, lengthy interrogations, sleep-deprivation and waiting – their fault derives from the cumulative weight of them as a means that is appropriate over a particular period becomes a fault due to additional interrogation.  I am aware of the fact that there is a certificate of confidentiality on the method of interrogation, and I am aware of the fact that the methods of interrogation that are enacted by the GSS are the ones that were recommended by the Landau Commission and that they were authorized by the government. I claim that it is essential for the defense of the Defendant that the confidentiality be removed from these stages of interrogation, in as much as they relate to the means taken against this specific Defendant, relating to very specific . . . interrogation methods that use sleep deprivation, lengthy interrogation and periods of uncomfortable waiting.

Minutes of Military Court Proceedings, April 10, 1994.  

 Feldman further argued that the removal of confidentiality was essential to the

 defense because:

[First] the Defendant argues in the sub-trial that means were taken against him of sleep deprivation for long periods, uncomfortable binding, placing a sack on his head, sitting in an uncomfortable chair. The Prosecutor denies, with regard to some of these means, that they were taken against the Defendant. It is obvious that if it turns out that these means form part of the GSS interrogative method, this would make a crucial contribution to the reliability of the Defendant in contrast to testimony by GSS men. [Second] the Defendant claims that interrogation methods were taken with him as specified, which reflect to a certain extent in the reports of memoranda recorded by the interrogators. If the Defendant proves that these methods, to which the GSS admits, deviate from the directives which bind the GSS interrogator, again, this will make a real – if not a crucial – contribution for the defense, that faults are found which damage the admissibility of the confessions. [Third] The GSS interrogator states - we acted entirely according to the binding procedures. A proof that the interrogators deviated from the procedures will also be of significant assistance to the Defendant’s reliability as compared to the unreliability of the interrogators.

The Court, relying on Section 9(a), ultimately ruled that pursuant to that

provision, the Prosecutor and the GSS were not required to produce the materials if they did not

wish to do so. Minutes of Military Court Proceedings, April 11 and 12 and May 9, 1994.

Feldman then moved to exonerate his client based upon his inability to adequately obtain

evidence and defend his client.  In a subsequent written decision, the Court rejected this

argument as premature. Minutes of Military Court Proceedings, May 9, and July 20, 1994.

             Team leader “Chaim” was the next witness.  He too painted Salah as an intelligent, polite

and largely cooperative man who readily admitted that he was a high level Hamas operative with

the mission of assisting the organization in its rebuilding after the deportations.  Asserting

confidentiality, “Chaim” refused to testify as to the circumstances of Salah’s arrest or about the

intelligence information which led to it.  He too denied the allegations in Salah’s motion,

claiming that Salah was treated less harshly because of his “advanced age” of approximately

forty years.  He did admit that Salah was placed in the tiny “waiting” cell on at least one

occasion and that Salah was hooded:


He was not deprived of sleep. Based on my instruction, due to his age, he did not walk around with a head covering. Only maybe occasionally, for very short periods. When conditions at the facility made this possible, I led him without a head covering.


Minutes of hearing, July 20, 1994.
                             The music was “background” classical music rather than deafening, and Salah was informed that the denial of his request for an attorney was permitted under Israeli military law.  “Chaim” denied that he had made any promises that Salah would be immediately released if he gave a full confession, or threatened that he would spend his life in jail if he did not.  When asked about the interrogative methods and procedures used with the “birds,” he conceded that the “gambit” was very complex, then again invoked confidentiality and repeatedly refused to answer. On the motion of the defendant, Salah’s mother was admitted to the proceedings during “Chaim’s testimony, but his brother was not.  
                                               Minutes of Hearing, July 20, and August 25, 1994. 
   
“Chaim” was followed to the stand by three other interrogators - - - “Abu Ghazi,” “Cohen,” and “Benny.” Abu Ghazi was the first GSS agent to interrogate Salah, and he admitted to handcuffing him and interrogating him through the night, possibly for as long as 23 hours, including “waiting.”  Benny also admitted to long nighttime interrogations followed by “waiting” periods, and waking Salah in the early morning hours for continued interrogation.  Cohen denied that Salah was bound to the small chair, but conceded its general use - - - purportedly for safety rather than coercion:
Not all subjects of interrogation sit on a small chair. The safety risk exists in most of the cases that come to interrogation and I suppose that indeed, most of the subjects of interrogation do sit on a small chair. There are exceptions: for reasons of health or specific directives. 


Minutes of Hearing, August 29, and October 11, 1994.  

All three refused to further discuss general interrogation procedures, and denied all the other allegations made by Salah in his motion.

Facing a possible life sentence, and no doubt influenced by the fact that Palestinian security detainees tried in secret Israeli military courts were almost never acquitted,
 Salah, through defense attorney Feldman, accepted a plea agreement offered by the military prosecutor before the sub trial concluded. In exchange for pleading guilty to reduced charges, Salah received a five year prison term, starting on the date of his arrest a year before, with an additional three years of probation.  Minutes of Hearing, January 2, 1995.

The Landau Commission Report and the Comptroller’s Audit
In 1987, after two particularly egregious cases of GSS interrogation abuse and perjury came to light, the Israeli Knesset appointed a Commission, headed by former Supreme Court Justice Moshe Landau, to investigate the GSS use of physical force during interrogations and the widespread practice of submitting perjured testimony to the Military Courts to cover-up this abuse.   The Commission found the following:

The principal reason why GSS interrogators lied in court during the trial within the trial, and denied applying any physical pressure whatsoever on the persons under interrogation was the operative need not to expose the methods of interrogation. . . For a long time varied and diverse methods of interrogation, the chief effectiveness of which lies in their secrecy, have been employed in this unit. The moment such a method is exposed and revealed, its efficacy is damaged or completely disappears. One method of interrogation is physical pressure, which interrogators regard as an interrogation tool of the utmost importance.  It is the view of this unit that without this tool, effective interrogation is inconceivable. Thus if its details are exposed, its effectiveness will disappear and serious damage will accrue to investigation work in general . . . hence, in order to preserve their investigative tool . . the investigators felt that it must apply to everyone, including even the courts.  The logical continuation was to give false testimony in Court. 


Landau Commission Report, Section 2.37. 



Additionally, the GSS justifiably views the conviction of a terrorist and his imprisonment for a lengthy period as a most important preventive measure.  Accordingly, the judicial process through which the terrorist is removed from the sphere of terrorist activity is one in which the GSS takes great interest. The success of the GSS in a trial is therefore directly dependent on the acceptance of the accused’s confession - - - in the majority of cases the only evidence against him - - - by the Courts. Revelation of the acts of physical pressure exerted in interrogations puts at risk the admissibility of the confession by the Court.  Therefore, the GSS concluded . . . that the danger of having the confessions rejected must be prevented by concealing the means of physical pressure from the Court, even if this entailed perjury.


Landau Commission Report, Section 2.38. 

The Commission found that this “dismal’ and “regrettable” behavior was backed in an unqualified manner by the GSS command structure and concluded that the GSS “failed utterly in permitting itself to violate the law systematically and for such a long period by assenting to, approving, and even encouraging the giving of false testimony in Court.” 

Landau Commission Report, Sections 2.42, 2.53.
In order to guard the rights of the citizen, The Commission set out the following

 
measures:

First the pressure must never reach the level of physical torture or maltreatment of the suspect or grievous harm to his honor which deprives him of his human dignity. Second, the possible use of less serious measures must be weighed against the degree of anticipated danger according to the information in the possession of the interrogator. Third the physical and psychological means of pressure permitted must be defined and limited in advance by issuing binding directives. Fourth, there must be strict supervision of the implementation in practice of the directives given to GSS interrogators. Fifth, the interrogator’s superiors must react firmly and without hesitation to every deviation from the permissible, imposing disciplinary punishment, and in serious cases by causing criminal proceedings to be instituted against the interrogator.


Landau Commission Report, Section 3.16. 

After approving the use of “moderate physical pressure” during GSS interrogations, the

 
Commission set forth in the classified Annex to the Report, a “code of guidelines” for GSS interrogators “which define, on the basis of past experience, and with as much precision as possible, the boundaries of what is permitted to the interrogator and mainly what is prohibited to him.” 

Landau Commission Report, Sections 4.7 and 4.8.  

It is these guidelines that the GSS agents refused to testify about at Salah’s “trial within a trial.”

In 1994, the Israeli State Comptroller completed an audit of GSS interrogation methods for the years of 1988 to 1992.  Since the report contained classified information, the Comptroller attempted to file a public summary, but the attempt was rejected until the Israeli Supreme Court in 1999 recommended that the summary be publicly released, which it was a year later.  This summary found that despite the Landau Commission Report, there were known deviations from the guidelines at all GSS interrogation facilities:
During the period of the audit, high ranking officers of the GSS did not prevent such deviations, by allowing the use of means and methods of pressure, within GSS regulations, even when these did not appear in the manual of guidelines prepared by the Landau Commission on the use of permitted methods, or by refraining from uprooting wrong practices, as their position obliged them to do. 


                        Summary of the Audit Report on the Interrogation System in the General Security System (GSS) 

for the Years 1988-1992, pp. 5-6.
                        The summary then addressed the continuing problem of GSS perjury:


Even after the Landau Commission’s Report had been published, the phenomena of interrogators telling lies was not abolished: some of them lied when giving testimony in front of judicial authorities or other investigating bodies, and some lied when reporting to their superiors and to others within the GSS itself.  Statements made by GSS chiefs to the Landau Commission, to the effect that within the GSS there was extremely strict enforcement of truth-telling “at all cost” was investigated by the State Comptroller and found to be groundless.

                        Summary of the Audit Report on the Interrogation System in the General Security System (GSS) for the Years 1988-1992, p.6.  

Finally, the State Comptroller articulated her main finding:

The crisis which created the need to appoint the [Landau] Commission, whose conclusions and recommendations were adopted by the Government, should have led to full compliance with the rules that had been established.  The main findings of this report are that this has not happened, and at least during much of the period audited in this report, negative phenomena such as contempt for the law, partial or false reporting and more, persisted. . . Above all, there is a prominent alarm signal warning that false reporting is the root of all evil, and that it must be totally uprooted from GSS operations. 

                        Summary of the Audit Report, p. 9.

Human Rights Reports 
In 1991 and 1992, a leading Israeli human rights organization, The Israeli Information Center for Human Rights in the Occupied Territories or B’Tselem, issued two of many reports it would issue during the 1990's on torture and abuse in the Occupied Territories.  Gravely concerned with the radical increase in deaths during detention and interrogation in GSS run facilities and the reports of widespread abuse of detainees, B’Tselem documented detailed interviews with forty-one former detainees who were allegedly subjected to the interrogation techniques of the GSS at their numerous facilities in Gaza and the West Bank. On the basis of these interviews and other investigative and judicial materials, B’Tselem found that the methods of severe beating on all parts of the body, hooding, binding to the chair or in other painful positions, sleep and food deprivation, confinement in the tiny ‘coffin” or “closet” cells, psychological abuse, and humiliation all “appear to be routine techniques of interrogation.”  The Interrogation of Palestinians During the Intifada: Ill Treatment, “Moderate Pressure” or Torture? (1991) (B’Tselem Report), p 35.  In its followup Report, B’Tselem found that “roughly 5,000 Palestinians per year had been subjected to some combination of these methods of torture or ill-treatment.” Followup to March 1991 B’Tselem Report, (1992), p. 10.
Several of the documented cases arose in Ramallah, and one detainee, Mahmud, described  “Haim’s” use of the hood during interrogation:

            Captain Haim dragged me, with the sack .  The dragging is done by twisting the sack around the neck, until it is very tight, and then taking the sack near the throat and dragging.  Along the way he smashed my head against the wall several times.

                        B’Tselem Report, p. 41.  

The Report also found that planting of collaborators who impersonated Palestinian resistance leaders in a cell with the detainee in an attempt to obtain a confession was “commonplace,” and documented the use of violence by the collaborators in order to coerce a confession from the detainee.  B’Tselem Report, pp. 51- 53.   

B’Tselem further concluded that “the interrogators are not operating in a vacuum, but rather rely on the active help of soldiers, jailers, doctors, medical orderlies and judges.”  B’Tselem Report, p. 39.   Most significantly, B’Tselem found that the “practices documented . . . in this report would be recognized by common sense as ‘torture’ and would be covered by the U.N. definition.” B’Tselem Report, p. 6. 

The Palestinian human rights organization Al Haq also conducted an exhaustive investigation and documentation of detentions and interrogations of Palestinian males in the Occupied Territories from 1987 to 1992.  Their investigators took sworn affidavits, and obtained medical records and other evidence in more than 700 cases.  The majority of these cases were chosen randomly from Palestinians in the refugee camps who had been detained in Israeli custody.  The remaining cases were chosen from persons who they learned had been interrogated.  These persons came from all over the Territories, in most cases did not know each other, and the similarity of their descriptions of their treatment gave their stories added credibility. Torture for Security: the Systematic Torture and Ill Treatment of Palestinians in Israel, (1995).
Al Haq, in its Report, found  “the accounts of torture and ill treatment documented . . to be highly credible and difficult to refute.” Torture For Security, p. 19.  Specifically the Report found that such allegations were made by the interviewees in 85% of the detentions and in more than 94% of the interrogations. Torture For Security, p. 21.   
It further found:

The forms of illegal treatment used against Palestinians in Israeli custody prior to and during interrogations appear to be largely standardized.  There is a pattern of the use of the same specific practices in the interrogation of Palestinians . . . in Israeli prisons, military detention facilities, police stations and jails, even though they are under the general administration of different branches of the Israeli government.

                        Torture For Security, pp. 21, 22.  

The Report found that the standardized interrogation practices, often administered in escalating stages, included: 

 

beatings, often with implements, on sensitive parts of the body including the head and genitals (and more occasionally the bottoms of the feet); various forms of “shabeh,” hooding by covering the head and eyes, nose, mouth and neck with one or more cloth sacks which are sometimes wet, and/or reeking of urine or excrement; isolation in small enclosed spaces often of a cupboard-like or coffin-like construction; various forms of asphyxiation or choking for measured periods of time; food deprivation; sleep deprivation; forced exposure to extreme temperature, including hot or cold blowing air and hot and cold showers; threats to kill the detainee or to arrest and torture family members; as well as other forms of psychological pressure. . .[W]here the information is considered to be of special importance by the Israeli authorities, various practices that do not appear to be standardized may be added to those listed above.

                        Torture For Security, pp. 21, 22.  

In 6.8% of the reported abusive interrogations, electric-shock was an additional method used.  In its Report, Al Haq also found that these practices violated the Fourth Geneva Convention Relative to the Protection of Civilians in Time of War (1949), and the U.N. Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman, or Degrading Treatment and Punishment.(CAT). Torture For Security, pp. 10, 23-24.
In 1994, the U.S. State Department, in its Country Reports for Human Rights Practices for 1993, at  p. 1204,  found that:

According to credible reports, hooding, forced standing or tying up in contorted positions, prolonged exposure to extreme temperatures, blows and beatings, confinement in a small place, sleep and food deprivation, threats against a detainee’s family, and threats of death were common practice in interrogation facilities. 

Also in 1994, the Human Rights Watch/Middle East issued an extensive report, documenting GSS interrogation methods from 1992 to 1994 and making numerous recommendations.  Torture and Ill Treatment; Israel’s Interrogation of Palestinians From the Occupied Territories (Human Rights Watch Report) (1994).
In the documented cases, the Report included several from Ramallah which implicated  “Chaim”  and “Cohen.”  Ahmed al-Batsch, a forty-seven year old Palestinian detainee, graphically described an early stage of his interrogation by “Chaim” and his team that took place only months before the interrogation of Muhammad Salah:

He [an interrogator] told me to get up.  I did.  I was without hood, but my hands were tied. He lifted my chin, grabbed my collar, until it was thin like twine, and then pulled it tight against my throat. He began to shake my neck from the collar. He shook me very hard twenty or thirty times, for three or four minutes, until I lost consciousness. There were four interrogators plus the boss.  They did the good cop bad cop routine.  When I woke up, they said to the boss, “its OK, now he will talk, he’s ok.”

                        Human Rights Watch Report, p. 288.  After al Batsch refused to talk, 

Major Chaim, the one who shook me, picked up a chair as if he was going to hit me with it.  The others told him “Don’t do it, he will talk, don’t do it.”  Chaim rolled up my collar again and began to choke me. . . I didn’t think I was going to come out of it alive. There were marks on my neck, blood was coming from the gashes.

                       Human Rights Watch Report, p. 289.  al Batsch was then sent to waiting, only to have “Chaim” repeat his physical abuse the next day, while screaming hysterically at him: 

You will go insane.  No one leaves from here without speaking, either from the mouth, or the ass. You will see, in the end you will talk.’” 

                        Human Rights Watch Report, p. 289.  

According to al Batsch, who did not sleep for the next ten days, “they want to destroy you in those first two weeks.”  Human Rights Watch Report, p. 289.  After 75 days of interrogation, he was released without charge.
In its report, Human Rights Watch found that “not only do these methods [documented in the Report] constitute methods of torture and ill treatment prohibited under international law; they also seriously taint the voluntariness of the confessions that they help to bring about, and with it the fundamental fairness of the military courts that judge Palestinians in the Occupied Territories.” Human Rights Watch Report, p. 2.  
It then made the following recommendations:

* Enact domestic enabling legislation that makes the Convention Against Torture                  enforceable in Israeli courts;

* Publicly state that the provisions of the Convention apply to all state agencies in the           Occupied Territories;

* Make public all existing guidelines relating to the use of pressure during interrogation,       including the secret Annex to the Landau Commission Report and subsequent                     modifications to it, so that their compliance with international standards and Israeli            domestic law can be assessed;

* Revoke those clauses of the GSS interrogation guidelines that permit the use of physical    force despite its prohibition in Israel’s Penal Code; and

* Review and revise the regulations and practices surrounding investigative detention so as    to strengthen safeguards against abuse.

Human Rights Watch Report, p xii.  
Human Rights Watch further recommended that these revisions should include:

* providing the suspect with the reasons for arrest at the time of the arrest;

* Faster judicial review of detention;

* Faster access to defense counsel;

* End anonymity of interrogation staff;

* Give content to the right to challenge the confession by forbidding stiffer sentences for       those who raise such challenges;

* Investigate abuses promptly, impartially, and publicly;

* Open interrogation wings to outside monitors; and

* Require prison physicians to report evidence of abuse.

                        Human Rights Watch Report, pp. xii-xiv.

Israeli Supreme Court Decisions


Because an interrogee’s rights in the Occupied Territories are defined by military order, any appeal against methods of torture or the prohibition of a lawyer’s visit by a GSS detainee is directly appealable to the Israeli Supreme Court, sitting as the High Court of Justice.  In the mid 1990's, The Public Committee Against Torture in Israel (PCATI) embarked on a project to submit petitions to the High Court each and every time the GSS prohibited a lawyer’s visit or a claim of torture was made against GSS interrogators.  These petitions sought a show cause order (order nisi) directing the Government to explain why it persisted in continuing the torture and barring the interrogee’s lawyer. Pacheco, Allegra, Esq., Proving Torture No Longer Necessary in Israel, PCATI (1999).
Normally, by the time a hearing date was set in the High Court, the interrogee had already been under interrogation for several weeks.  If he had already confessed, or it was clear that the Government’s case was weak and that his threat to the security of Israel was marginal,  the Government and the defense attorney would normally reach an agreement: the attorney would withdraw the petition and the Government would allow the lawyer to visit and to certify in writing that "at the present time, no physical pressure is being used against the interrogee and he is allowed to sleep reasonable hours." Most petitions to the High Court were resolved in this way. Proving Torture No Longer Necessary in Israel, PCATI (1999).
In approximately a quarter of the cases, the Government insisted on continuing the “physical pressure,” and/or its refusal to allow the attorney to visit.   In those cases the Government presented a secret file to the High Court to justify its actions. If the defense attorney refused to allow the High Court to see the secret evidence, the Court would conclude that the GSS interrogation was justified, no order nisi would issue, and the case was closed. If the defense attorney agreed to an ex parte examination of the secret evidence by the Court, the Court would sit with the GSS interrogators.  According to attorney Pacheco, who represented detainees in many of these cases, the agent assumedly “explain[ed] to the Court why the detainee is a danger to state security and why the physical pressure and incommunicado detention must continue.”  Proving Torture No Longer Necessary in Israel, PCATI, (1999).  
In such cases,  the Court would sometimes urge both sides to reach a compromise - - - that the defense attorney allow the GSS several more days of incommunicado detention and certify no pressure. Where no agreement could be reached, the High Court examined the evidence behind closed doors and, with few exceptions, refused to issue an order nisi, the case was closed, and the GSS was free to continue the physical pressure and the incommunicado interrogation. Proving Torture No Longer Necessary in Israel, PCATI, (1999).
During this time, numerous cases which raised shaking, the shabeh method, and other frequently utilized GSS methods of physical and psychological abuse were unsuccessfully brought to the Israeli Supreme Court.  Finally, late in 1997, the Court demanded an answer from the Government in the Ghanimat case. During oral argument, the Government admitted that, in the aggregate, the shabeh method did cause pain and influenced the interrogee’s mental and physical state, but was not applied intentionally to cause this pain. Accordingly, PCATI requested a second temporary injunction to halt the use of shabeh against Ghanimat who had already endured over two months of shabeh. Despite ten hours of hearings, secret evidence, and a slide show presented by the GSS behind closed doors, the High Court failed to issue a decision, and, by a 5-4 vote, also rejected the request for an injunction to stop the use of torture against Ghanimat.  Proving Torture No Longer Necessary in Israel, PCATI, (1999).
A little more than a year later, the High Court held another hearing on a number of outstanding torture petitions brought by PCATI and other petitioners, and in May of 1999, issued a unanimous ruling, written by Court President Barak, in which the Court finally found that most of the interrogation tactics employed by GSS were in excess of its lawful authority.  Public Committee Against Torture et. al., v. Israel, HCJ 5100/94.  
Since the Government did not deny that the GSS utilized the methods complained of by the petitioners, but rather defended their use, the Court assumed that the methods alleged were in fact routinely employed by the GSS.  

Specifically, the Court held that a “reasonable investigation is necessarily one free of torture, free of cruel, inhuman treatment, and free of any degrading treatment whatsoever. . . these prohibitions are absolute.”  Public Committee Against Torture,  p. 23.   The Court further held that shaking, the frog crouch, hooding, restraining in the small chair, playing of loud music, and shackling with small handcuffs were all prohibited investigation methods.  It authorized regular cuffing for the safety of the interrogator, and, with regard to sleep deprivation, it held that:

Depriving the suspect of sleep is, in our opinion, included in the general authority of the investigator.. . .The interrogation of crimes and, in particular, murder or other serious crimes, cannot be accomplished within an ordinary work day . . .The investigation of crime is essentially a game of mental resistance.. . . For this reason, the interrogation is often carried out at frequent intervals. This, as noted, causes the investigation to drag on . . .and requires diligent insistence on its momentum and consecutiveness. The above described situation is different from one in which sleep deprivation shifts from being a "side effect" of the interrogation to an end in itself. If the suspect is intentionally deprived of sleep for a prolonged period of time, for the purpose of tiring him out or "breaking" him, it is not part of the scope of a fair and reasonable investigation. Such means harm the rights and dignity of the suspect in a manner beyond what is necessary.


Committee Against Torture et. al., v. Israel, HCJ 5100/94. p. 28.

Finally, the High Court, while recognizing that a GSS agent might be able to utilize, after the fact, a necessity defense against a criminal charge or prosecution if he used the prohibited methods in certain interrogative circumstances, rejected the State’s argument that this potential defense provided the legal authority for the use of such methods.


Salah’s Prosecution Continues in the United States
After his release from Israeli prison in November of 1997, Muhammad Salah returned to the Chicago area and attempted to rebuild his life with his wife and children. The U.S. Government had other plans, however.  While still in prison, Salah had been designated a terrorist by then President Clinton, the only U.S. citizen to be so designated at that time.  Additionally, the Government placed a blocking order on Salah’s bank account, a lien was placed on his family home, and the Government further mandated that in order to conduct any business with Mr. Salah, including issuing a paycheck to him, a license from the Department of the Treasury had to be first obtained.  The Government also initiated civil forfeiture proceedings against his assets. In 2003  the Government brought a RICO conspiracy indictment against Salah and two other Palestinian-Americans which was based on the same overt acts - - - providing material support to Hamas - - - as the Israeli indictment of ten years before. Like the Israeli charges, the U.S. indictment rested on the statements tortured from him by the GSS interrogators.
Salah’s lawyers filed a motion to suppress these statements.  Since the statements were  obtained by GSS interrogators, the failure to give Miranda warnings, to permit the presence of counsel, or to bring Salah promptly before a magistrate were not determinative of the motion as they would be if the interrogators were U.S. law enforcement agents. Instead, Salah was required to establish that the statements were involuntary or that the methods used by the interrogators shocked the judicial conscience.  Confronted with this heightened standard, Salah’s lawyers sought discovery in order to prepare for the motion to suppress and for trial.  Specifically, the defense discovery requests included:

· GSS Guidelines and procedures concerning interrogations which were in effect at the time of Salah’s interrogation, including the Landau Commission secret Annex;

· Israeli Defense Force guidelines and policies at the time Salah was arrested and beaten by IDF soldiers;

· Israeli National Police policies and guidelines at the time their officers took the statements in Hebrew from Salah;

· Evidence concerning the pre-arrest surveillance of Mr. Salah, any such information which led to his detention, and the facts and circumstances surrounding his arrest and transport;

· The identity of, and reports concerning, all persons who came in contact with Salah during his interrogation;  

· All documentation concerning Salah’s interrogation;

· All documentation concerning any Israeli or U.S. Justice Department investigation into Salah’s allegations of torture and abuse;

· The identity of the “bird” collaborators, all documentation concerning their interrogation of Mr. Salah, documentation of all rewards the “birds” received, and all GSS guidelines and directives concerning the methods used by the “birds”;

· Documentation concerning other incidents of torture and abuse by the GSS agents who interrogated Salah;

· Documentation concerning the Judith Miller interrogation;

· Documentation of U.S. and Israeli cooperation concerning Salah’s interrogation.


Defendant’s Motion For Material Discovery, December 12, 2005, Docket # 342.

Since the Israeli Government had classified much of the material, including the secret Annex to the Landau Commission Report, the arrest information, and much of the “birds” material, the U. S. Prosecutors refused to seek from the Israeli Government, or to produce, much of the material sought. The Government argued, and the District Judge, who was, herself a former U.S. prosecutor, accepted, that certain Executive Orders, when read together with the Classified Information Procedures Act (CIPA), provided the Governments of Israel and the United States the power to unilaterally determine, unfettered by meaningful adversarial input or informed judicial review, the universe of discovery materials to be produced. These Executive Orders, as articulated by the District Judge, are as follows:

Pursuant to Executive Order 12958, issued on April 17, 1995, as further amended by Executive Order 13292, issued on March 25, 2003, “information provided to the United States Government by a foreign government ... with the expectation that the information, the source of the information, or both, are to be held in confidence” or “information produced by the United States pursuant to or as a result of a joint arrangement with a foreign government ... requiring that the information, the arrangement, or both, are to be held in confidence” constitutes “foreign government information.”  Exec. Order No. 12958, 60 Fed.Reg. 19825 (Apr. 17, 1995), §  1.1(d).  Moreover, “the unauthorized disclosure of foreign government information is presumed to cause damage to the national security.”  Id., §  1.1(c).

U. S, v. Salah, 412 F.Supp. 2d 913, 919  (N. D. Ill. 2006).  

For this and other related reasons, the Court did not order the Government to produce the great majority of the materials sought. U. S. v. Salah, Transcript of December 22, 2005.
The battle over discovery was a precursor to the U. S. Government’s next move - - to invoke CIPA , the Executive Orders, and the Israeli Government’s designation of key testimony and documents as classified, in order to establish a proceeding, similar to that conducted in Israeli Military Court, where significant portions of Salah’s motion to suppress would be heard in secret with his due process rights sharply curtailed.  Government’s Motion to Conduct Certain Portions of Evidentiary Hearing on Defendant Salah’s Motion to Suppress Pursuant to CIPA and For Application of Other Measures To Ensure Witness Safety, January 5, 2006, Docket # 367-1.  Again reminiscent of the ex parte proceedings in Israeli Military Court, the U.S. Government filed several ex parte affidavits in support of its motion, which set forth, according to the Court’s subsequent opinion, that :

The ISA [GSS] is a domestic intelligence agency for the State of Israel. (R. 367-1, Ex. A.) By law, the ISA provides for the internal security of Israel.  Id. Israel is in a state of high risk given the terrorist operations working against Israel.  (Id.) Israel maintains the secrecy of the true identities of the ISA agents, as well as identifying characteristics.  (Id.,17-20.)   Given this secrecy and the ISA's safety concerns for its agents, (id.), Israel has never before permitted ISA agents to give live testimony in the United States.  (Id. 5-6.)   . . . . [G]enerally speaking, these witnesses will testify regarding topics that are themselves classified, including the agents' work, work-related activities, procedures,  interrogation techniques, investigative methods, and other counterintelligence and securities activities of the ISA..


U. S. v. Salah,  412 F. Supp. 2d at 918-19.

Defendant Salah opposed the motion on the basis of his right to fair and open proceedings, his right to confrontation, and his right to effective assistance of counsel, and the defense was joined by the Chicago Tribune, the Center for Constitutional Rights, and numerous other concerned organizations who moved to intervene in order to raise the issue of First Amendment public access.
The District Court granted the Government’s motion in substantial part.  Finding the anticipated testimony of the GSS agents to be classified by Executive Order, the Court rejected Defendant Salah’s argument that much of the material was already in the public domain, and that the true motivation for Israel’s persistence in maintaining the anticipated testimony as classified was to avoid embarrassment, a reason which was expressly deemed impermissible under the Executive Orders, holding that it had no power to go behind Israel’s designation:  

It is a matter of conjecture whether the court performs any real judicial function when it reviews classified documents in camera.   Without the illumination provided by adversarial challenge and with no expertness in the field of national security, the court has no basis on which to test the accuracy of the government's claims.   The court is limited to determining that the documents are the kinds of documents described in the government's affidavit, that they have been classified in fact, and that there is a logical nexus between the information at issue and the claimed exemption.   The court is in no position to second-guess either the agency's determination of the need for classification or the agency's prediction of harm should release be permitted.   Even in those instances where the court might have its own view of the soundness of the original policy decision . . . it must defer to the agency's evaluation of the need to maintain the secrecy of the methods used to carry out such projects.

4 12 F. Supp. 2d at 921.  
5 The Court also rejected the constitutional challenges raised by the Defendant and the intervenors. The Court then established procedures for the secret hearing: the GSS agents’ testimony would be heard in secret, under exceedingly tight security; the agents would be identified only by code names; the Court would conduct, within the secret proceedings, ex parte CIPA hearings with the Government and the GSS witness if the classified information privilege was invoked; and, after the hearing, the Government, at its discretion, could release portions of the secret transcripts and exhibits that, upon further review, it did not consider classified.  U. S. v. Salah, 412 F. Supp. 2d  at 919, note 6; 919-24;  Minute Orders of January 31, February 6, February 15, February 16, and March 6, 2006.
The hearing began on March 3, 2006 with public opening statements.  The Government argued that Salah was treated better than his Palestinian counterparts because he was older than most detainees and a U.S. citizen, and that portions of his statements reflected that he was not under duress but rather was acting of his own free will.  The defense countered by recounting the early days of the interrogation, where Salah was without legal representation, had no right to remain silent, and was intentionally deprived of sleep while hooded and shackled to the little chair; the later torment of the “birds;” and the unremitting agony of 80 days of interrogation, as powerful evidence that Salah’s will was overborne by interrogation methods which are shocking to the judicial conscience.

The hearing then moved behind closed doors, where it remained for the next eight days. For the defense, only Salah and his lawyers were permitted to enter the closed courtroom, while Mrs. Salah, friends, and other supporters remained outside.  When the proceedings were finally reopened to the public, the defense moved to strike the GSS agents’ testimony, but the Judge denied the motion, again promising, as she did in her written CIPA decision, that she would consider drawing negative inferences from the Government’s refusal to produce relevant testimony and documents on the assertion that they are classified.  The Government then presented an FBI agent who recounted Salah’s meetings with representatives of the U.S. Consulate, and the defense presented two expert witnesses - - - Palestinian human rights lawyer Jonathan Kuttab and former B’tselem researcher Yuval Ginbar, who introduced the Al Haq and B’tselem Reports and gave powerful testimony that the torture set forth by Salah in his affidavit was routinely practiced against nearly all Palestinian security detainees in the Occupied Territories, without regard to age or whether or not they were U.S. citizens.  The hearing was then continued until late April, at which time the defense will present a Palestinian lawyer who was tortured by “Chaim,” Salah’s Israeli lawyer, Avigdor Feldman, and a Palestinian psychiatrist who will describe the psychological impact of GSS torture on a detainee’s free will.  A decision is expected in May or June of this year.


Conclusion
The recent proceedings conducted in U. S. District Court in the Salah case mirror those conducted twelve years before in the Israeli Military Courts.  The public was barred from much of the proceedings, secret evidence of systemic torture and abuse was withheld as classified, and the Israeli and U. S. Governments, rather than the Court, were the final arbiters on what evidence was produced and what questions were answered.  The trier of fact sat in secret sessions with key Government witnesses and their lawyers, apparently hearing secret evidence not heard by the defense.  Israeli military law in the Occupied Territories took precedence over the Constitution of the United States in determining the legality of confessions allegedly coerced by torture. The right to counsel, to remain silent, to confront witnesses, to be free of double jeopardy, and to have a public trial all evaporated in the face of the Israeli Government’s continuing resolve to keep its policies of torture hidden from public scrutiny, and the U.S. Government’s plan to wholesale nullify the Constitutional rights of its citizens in the name of “national security.”  This is the truly frightening message sent by the Salah case.

�The GSS, an arm of the Israeli Prime Minister, was also known as Shin Bet, Shabak, and the Israeli Security Agency (ISA). For purposes of consistency, we will refer to the Agency as the GSS throughout this article. 


� Under military law in Gaza and the Occupied Territories, a “security” detainee had no right to a lawyer during the interrogation, no right to be brought promptly before a judge, no right to remain silent, and his silence could be used against him in future criminal proceedings. 


�For the years 1988 to 1993, only 3.2% of the 83,321 Palestinians tried in the Military Courts in the Occupied Territories were acquitted, while, in 1993, only 320 of 15,676 Palestinians (2.0%) tried in Israeli Military Courts were acquitted. Torture and Ill-Treatment: Israel’s Interrogation of Palestinians from the Occupied Territories, Human Rights Watch/Middle East, 1994, p. 2, and note 4.
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